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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Prosperous Printing Company
Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to announce the audited consolidated financial
results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2021.

This announcement, containing the full text of the 2021 Annual Report of the Company,
complies with the relevant requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) in
relation to information to accompany preliminary announcement of annual results. Printed
version of the 2021 Annual Report of the Company of the Company containing the
information required by the GEM Listing Rules will be dispatched to the shareholders of
the Company and available for viewing on the GEM website at the www.hkgem.com
on the “Latest Company Announcements” page and on the Company’s website at
WWW.prosperous-printing-group.com.hk.

By order of the Board
Prosperous Printing Company Limited
Mr. Lam Sam Ming
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 March 2022

As at the date of this announcement, the executive Directors are Mr. Lam Sam Ming,
Ms. Chan Sau Po and Ms. Yao Yuan; and the independent non-executive Directors are
Ms. Cheung Yin, Mr. Wong Hei Chiu and Mr. Leung Vincent Gar-Gene.

This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this announcement is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the GEM website (www.hkgem.com) for at least seven
days from the day of its posting. This announcement will also be published on the
Company’s website at www.prosperous-printing-group.com.hk.




CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to
professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Prosperous Printing Company Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

. The revenue of the Group was approximately HK$281.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 which remained stable as compared to approximately HK$278.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.

. The gross profit was approximately HK$54.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, as
compared to the gross loss of approximately HK$4.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

. The net loss for the year was approximately HK$83.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, as
compared to the net loss of approximately HK$100.8 million recorded for the year ended 31 December
2020.

. The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021
(for the same period ended 31 December 2020: Nil).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, I am pleased to present the annual report
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “the Year”). Unless otherwise stated, the capitalised
terms used in this annual report shall have the same meaning as those used in the prospectus (“Prospectus”)
dated 29 November 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a provider of printing products to Hong Kong-based print brokers with customers in overseas
markets and to international publishers mainly located in the United States of America (the “U.S.”), the United
Kingdom (the “U.K.”), Australia and Europe (excluding U.K.). The products comprise mainly books and other
paper-related products. Paper and ink are the principal raw materials of the Group. The two production sites
were the Shenzhen Factory and the Hong Kong Factory. Each of these factories is a self-functioning printing
and production arm of the Group, and they share the printing workload allocated by the management. The
Group experienced sharp decrease in revenue, and such decrease was mainly due to COVID-19 and overall
global economic uncertainty.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The revenue of the Group was approximately HK$281.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 which
remained stable as compared to approximately HK$278.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
gross profit was approximately HK$54.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, as compared to the
gross loss of approximately HK$4.4 million for the year ended 31December 2020 primarily due to the Company
adopting normal pricing policy in 2021 while aggressive pricing policy was adopted in 2020 due to COVID-19,
as well as reduction in cost of sales.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, there are certain risks that the Group will face in further development such as challenges from
the uncertainty of economies by reason of, among others, the U.S.-China trade dispute, COVID-19, an increase
in paper cost and technological advancements in publishing and new forms of information dissemination. As a
result of COVID-19 and chain effect, the Group considers that the business environment would continue to be
challenging in 2022 and will adopt cost-control measures to sustain its business. The Group plans to implement
the following business strategies: improving its equipment and the level of automation, expanding customer
base and strengthening sales and marketing coverage, and continuing to attract and retain top talent in the
industry.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

During the Year, the global economy was severely impacted by the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic (the
“Pandemic”). The Pandemic severely affected the demand for print products. Our Group’s performance was
also adversely affected. For details of the financial review and business review, please refer to the section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

Since late-January 2020, the Group has implemented several measures including epidemic prevention and
control, cancellation and rescheduling visits of customers in accordance with relevant national and local
regulations on epidemic prevention and control, to ensure the health and safety of customers and employees.

With the vaccination and the global collective efforts to combat the Pandemic, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic that the Group’s performance will improve in 2022.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my gratitude on behalf of the Group to all customers, suppliers, subcontractors, business
partners and professional parties for their support to our business development. I also take this opportunity to
thank for the management and employees of the Group for their contribution and commitment throughout the
year.

Mr. Lam Sam Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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PRrROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Sam Ming (}{=85) (“Mr. Lam”), aged 60, was appointed as our Director on 26 April 1993 and was
re-designated as our executive Director on 8 September 2016. He is also the chairman and CEO of our Group
and a Controlling Shareholder.

Mr. Lam is primarily responsible for the overall management and formulation of business strategy of our
Group. He also oversees the overall financial and operation functions of our Group.

Mr. Lam has over 38 years of experience in the printing industry. Mr. Lam began his career in the printing
industry when he was registered as an apprentice of The Hong Kong Printers Association in September 1976.
Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Lam started his career in the industry when he was first employed as an
apprentice by Hing Yip Printing Co. Ltd (“HYP”). He spent over 10 years with HYP between January 1983 and
March 1993 and his last position at HYP was a manager of the production department.

Mr. Lam established our Group through L & L in December 1992. Since then he has been in charge of
the overall business strategies and operation of our Group. Please refer to the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Our Corporate Development” in the Prospectus for further details.
Currently, Mr. Lam assumes various directorships in our Group including those in Printplus, Great Wall and
Century Sight. Mr. Lam is the spouse of Ms. Yao who is also our executive Director.

Mr. Lam was the sole director of Topping Shiny Limited (“Topping Shiny”), which was incorporated in Hong
Kong, prior to its dissolution on 17 March 2017. The principal business of Topping Shiny was the provision
of personalised photo albums. Topping Shiny was dissolved by way of deregistration under section 750 of the
Companies Ordinance. Under this section, an application for deregistration can only be made if (a) all the
members of the company agreed to such deregistration; (b) the company has never commenced business or
operation, or has ceased to carry on business or ceased operation for more than 3 months immediately before
the application; and (c¢) the company has no outstanding liabilities. Mr. Lam has not held any current or
past directorships in any publicly listed companies whether in Hong Kong or overseas, during the three years
immediately preceding the date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lam is interested in 480,000,000 Shares held through First Tech, which
is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lam. Mr. Lam is a director of First Tech.

Ms. Yao Yuan (BK3E) (“Ms. Yao”), aged 45, was appointed as our Director on 10 March 2016 and was re-
designated as our executive Director on 8 September 2016.

Ms. Yao is primarily responsible for overseeing and liaising with local officials in relation to our Group’s
operations in the PRC. She has over 12 years of experience in the management of printing business and
operations in the PRC. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Yao was the general manager and a majority
shareholder of Royal Step (SZ) which was our Group’s customer and sub-contractor during the Track Record
Period (i.e. the three years ended 31 December 2019) and was primarily responsible for the overall management
of the company, from 2008 to 2015. Ms. Yao was also the director of Royal Step Printing Company Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and an Independent Third Party, from 2008 to 2015.

Annual Report 2021 / 7



PRrROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Yao graduated from the University of Qigihar (AFZ5M R £), the PRC, in July 1999 with a practicing
diploma in Mechanical Design and Manufacturing (B aZsH 2 ##%). Ms. Yao is the spouse of Mr. Lam who
is also our executive Director. Ms. Yao has not held any current or past directorships in any publicly listed
companies whether in Hong Kong or overseas, during the three years immediately preceding the date of this
annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Yao is deemed to be interested in 480,000,000 Shares held by Mr. Lam,
the spouse of Ms. Yao, through First Tech, which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lam.

Ms. Chan Sau Po (FRE H) (“Ms. Chan”), aged 48, was appointed as our executive Director and chief financial
controller of our Group on 8 September 2016.

Ms. Chan is primarily responsible for corporate financial planning, risk management, investor relations,
accounting and treasury management of our Group. Ms. Chan joined our Group in February 1997 and has
over 30 years of experience in accounting. Prior to joining our Group, she was employed by Stephen Law &
Company, an audit firm, as Audit Senior from September 1991 to February 1997.

Ms. Chan obtained her higher diploma in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1999.
Ms. Chan has not held any current or past directorships in any publicly listed companies whether in Hong Kong
or overseas, during the three years immediately preceding the date of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Cheung Yin (FR¥E) (“Ms. Cheung”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director onl5
November 2017. She is currently a financial controller of LWH Advisory Limited, a company incorporated
in Macau which is principally engaged in provision of various financial services. Since 18 January 2021,
Ms. Cheung has been appointed an independent non-executive director of Joyas International Holdings Limited
(SGX: E9L) which is listed on the Catalist of Singapore Exchange Limited. She is a Certified Public Accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Certified Practising Accountant of the CPA
Australia.

Ms. Cheung obtained a master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of Wales, Newport in
the United Kingdom in December 2009 and a Bachelor’s degree in Business (Accountancy) from the Charles
Sturt University in Australia in April 1991.

Ms. Cheung worked for Coastal Greenland Limited which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange as
a qualified accountant for the period from April 2004 to June 2007 and senior accounting manager/accounting
manager for the period from September 1995 to March 2004. She has over 29 years of experience in accounting,
auditing and financial management. Ms. Cheung has not held any current or past directorships in any publicly
listed companies whether in Hong Kong or overseas during the three years preceding the date of this annual
report.

Mr. Wong Hei Chiu (ZEE#) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 15 November 2017. Mr. Wong has over 28 years of corporate finance and financial management experience
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Mr. Wong is currently an executive director, chief financial officer and company
secretary of Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited, a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1170). From January 2018 to March 2019, Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive
director of Vico International Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1621).
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PRrROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong has worked as the group financial controller and company secretary of Karce International Holdings
Company Limited (now known as Jimei International Entertainment Group Limited), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1159) from June 2000 to July 2008; and as the finance director
and company secretary of Wah Lee Resources Holdings Limited (now known as Kai Yuan Holdings Limited),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1215) from June 1996 to December
2000. Mr. Wong was also an independent non-executive director of Hong Wei (Asia) Holdings Company
Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8191), during the period from
December 2013 to June 2016.

Mr. Wong obtained an Executive Diploma in Corporate Governance and Sustainability Directorship from The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors and completed the Prince of Wales” Business Sustainability Programme from
the University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership in 2019.

Mr. Wong obtained an Executive Master’s degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in November 2016 and a Bachelor’s degree in business administration from Lingnan University,
Hong Kong in November 1996. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising), a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Wong is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Wong has not held any current or past directorships in any publicly listed companies
whether in Hong Kong or overseas during the three years preceding the date of this annual report.

Mr. Leung Vincent Gar-Gene (R ) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 36, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 15 November 2017. Mr. Leung has over 13 years of experience in auditing, accounting, finance and
management. He is currently a director of Gemcoast Limited, a private company in Hong Kong principally
engaged in providing financial consultancy services to its clients. He is a member of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and New Zealand and is a member of its Hong Kong Committee.

Mr. Leung previously worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers within its financial assurance division in its Sydney
and Hong Kong offices from January 2006 to May 2012 and from January 2013 to September 2014 respectively.
From June to December 2012, Mr. Leung worked as the group finance manager for Bega Cheese Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX securities code: BGA).

From 12 February 2018 to 22 February 2019, Mr. Leung served as an independent non-executive director
of Martin Aircraft Company Limited (“Martin Aircraft”), the shares of which were listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange. On 4 June 2018, Martin Aircraft was delisted because of the low trade volume of its
shares, and to save listing and associated costs. Mr. Leung confirmed that the delisting of Martin Aircraft
was voluntary, and he was not involved in the day-to-day management of Martin Aircraft. To the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made reasonable enquiries, there was no judgment or
findings of fraud, dishonesty, any misconduct or wrongful act on the part of Mr. Leung involved in the delisting
of Martin Aircraft.

With effect from 17 July 2020, Mr. Leung had become an independent non-executive director of Samson
Paper Holdings Limited (““Samson”’), a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 731). Mr. Leung had resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Samson with effect from 26 January 2022.
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PRrROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung obtained a bachelor of commerce degree from The University of New South Wales, Australia
in March 2006. Except as disclosed above, Mr. Leung has not held any current or past directorships in any
publicly listed companies whether in Hong Kong or overseas during the three years preceding the date of this
annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our Board is assisted and supported by our senior management team, which currently comprises four members.
The following table sets forth certain information of our senior management:

Date of joining

Name Age our Group Position
Ms. Wong Wai Sze (Fr 22 57 2 August 2010 Vice President — Management
Mr. Hu Min (F %) 61 3 October 1993 Vice President — Production

Ms. Wong Wai Sze (E£2) (“Ms. Wong”), aged 57, is the Vice President — Management of our Group. She
is primarily responsible for overseeing our Group’s internal audit, information technology affairs, and factory
inspections. Ms. Wong has over 29 years of experience in the printing and publishing industry in Hong Kong.
She joined our Group in August 2010. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Wong worked at Regent Publishing
Services Limited as a director of operations from August 1991 to March 2010. Ms. Wong has not held any
current or past directorships in any publicly listed companies, whether in Hong Kong or overseas, during the
three years immediately preceding the date of this annual report.

Mr. Hu Min (#K) (“Mr. Hu”), aged 61, is the Vice President — Production of our Group. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing our Hong Kong Factory and our Shenzhen Factory. Mr. Hu has over 26 years of
experience in the printing and publishing industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Hu has not held any current or past
directorships in any publicly listed companies, whether in Hong Kong or overseas, during the three years
immediately preceding the date of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chen Kun (“Mr. Chen”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 1 January 2021.
Mr. Chen is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong and was admitted in November 2011. Mr. Chen received his
Bachelor of Laws degree and the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong Kong. For
details, please refer to the announcement dated 31 December 2020.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Ms. Chan Sau Po is the compliance officer of our Group. Please refer to the sub-section headed “Board of
Directors — Executive Directors” above for her biographical details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a provider of printing products to Hong Kong-based print brokers with customers in overseas
markets and to international publishers mainly located in the United States of America (the “U.S.”), the United
Kingdom (the “U.K.”), Australia and Europe (excluding U.K.). The products comprise mainly books and
other paper-related products. Paper and ink are the principal raw materials of the Group. The two production
sites were the factory in Shenzhen (the “Shenzhen Factory”) and the factory in Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong
Factory”).

Each of these factories is a self-functioning printing and production arm of the Group, and they share the
printing workload allocated by the management. The revenue of the Group was approximately HK$281.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 which remained stable as compared to approximately HK$278.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The gross profit was approximately HK$54.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, as compared to the gross loss of approximately HK$4.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 primarily due to Company adopting normal pricing policy in 2021 while aggressive pricing
policy was adopted in 2020 due to COVID-19, as well as reduction in cost of sales.

During the reporting period, the Group had entered into agreements for the disposal of some properties with
lease back arrangement in Hong Kong at the aggregate consideration of HK$13,500,000 for improving the
cashflow as well as to reduce the gearing and interest expenses of the Group. For details of the disposal, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 25 January 2021 and 25 March 2021.

The Group proposed to implement the rights issue on the basis of three rights shares for every two existing
shares to raise up to approximately HK$52.8 million (before expenses) by issuing up to 1,200,000,000 rights
shares to the qualifying shareholders. This proposal was duly passed as an ordinary resolution at the general
meeting held on 25 February 2022 and it was subsequently terminated on 28 March 2022. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 29 December 2021, 25 January 2022 and 28 March 2022, the
circular of the Company dated 26 January 2022 and the prospectus of the Company dated 10 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, there are certain risks that the Group will face in further development such as challenges
from the uncertainty of economies by reason of, among others, the Pandemic, the U.S.-China trade dispute,
an increase in paper cost and technological advancements in publishing and new forms of information
dissemination. However, we remain cautiously optimistic of the prospects and believe that the printing market
will be sustainable in a steady and healthy way, and intend to continue to build the Group’s competitive
strengths so as to increase market share and profitability. To achieve its goal, the Group plans to implement the
following business strategies: improving its equipment and the level of automation, expanding customer base
and strengthening sales and marketing coverage, and continuing to attract and retain top talent in the industry.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group generates revenue primarily from the provision of printing products to Hong Kong-based print
brokers with customers in overseas markets and to international publishers mainly located in the U.S., U.K.,
Australia and Europe (excluding U.K.). The revenue of approximately HK$281.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 remained stable as compared to approximately HK$278.9 million for year ended 31 December
2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of sales

The cost of sales primarily consists of raw materials and consumables, staff costs, sub-contracting fees,
depreciation and water and electricity. The cost of sales decreased by approximately 19.7% from approximately
HK$283.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$227.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 which is driven by the decrease in depreciation and sub-contracting fee.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross loss of approximately HK$4.4 million was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2020 and gross
profit of approximately HK$54.2 million was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2021. The gross profit
was mainly attributable to Company adopting normal pricing policy in 2021 while aggressive pricing policy was
adopted in 2020 due to COVID-19, as well as reduction in cost of sales.

Other income

Other income mainly consists of the foreign exchange gain/loss, the profit arising from sales of scrap materials,
gain on disposal of property, rental income and income received from government subsidies. The Group
recorded other income of approximately HK$11.6 million during the year ended 31 December 2020 and HK$6.9
million during year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in government
grants received during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

Administrative expense primarily consists of staff costs and benefits, directors’ emoluments and depreciation.
The administrative expenses decreased from approximately HK$60.3 million during the year ended 31
December 2020 to HK$54.5 million during the year ended 31 December 2021, which was mainly due to decrease
in director fees, staff salary and welfare during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Finance costs

The Group recorded finance costs of approximately HK$7.5 million during the year ended 31 December 2020
and HKS$5.9 million during the year ended 31 December 2021. The finance costs decreased by approximately
21.3% in the year ended 31 December 2021 as compared to the same period in 2020. The decrease in finance
costs was primarily due to decrease in interest expense on bills.

Income tax

Income tax represents income tax paid or payable by the Group, at the applicable tax rates in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations in each tax jurisdiction the Group operates or domiciles. The Group had no
tax payable in other jurisdiction other than Hong Kong and the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2020
and 2021. The operations in Hong Kong are subject to the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, which the first
HK$2 million of profits of qualifying entity will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. The operations in the PRC are subject to an enterprise income tax rate of 25.0%. The Group recorded
income tax of approximately HK$2.0 million during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$1.3 million).

Loss for the year
As a result of the foregoing, the year ended 31 December 2021 recorded loss of approximately HK$83.1

million as compared to loss of approximately HK$100.8 million during the year ended 31 December 2020. The
improvement was primarily due to increase of gross profit (gross loss in 2020).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$72.6 million (as at 31
December 2020: net current assets approximately HK$7.3 million), of which the cash and cash equivalents
were approximately HKS$2.0 million. The Group’s current ratio as at 31 December 2021 is 0.70 (as at 31
December 2020: 1.0). The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2021 was 1.24 (as at 31 December 2020: 0.96) which
is calculated on the basis of the Group’s total bank loans, overdrafts and lease liabilities over the total equity.

Total bank borrowings, overdrafts and lease liabilities for the Group amounted to approximately HK$161.3
million as at 31 December 2021 (as at 31 December 2020: approximately HK$200.2 million). As at 31 December
2021, bank loans and overdrafts in the amounts of approximately HK$147.8 million are due within one year.

The Group adopts centralised financing and treasury policies in order to ensure the Group funding is utilised
efficiently. The Group also regularly monitors its liquidity requirements, its compliance with lending covenants
and its relationship with bankers to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

The Group reported a net loss of approximately HK$83.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$72.6 million, and as at 31 December 2021, the Group has bank
loans and overdrafts amounting to approximately HK$147.8 million, which are due for repayment within one
year. The Group’s pledged bank deposits and cash at bank and on hand only amounted to approximately
HK$2.0 million and HK$2.0 million, respectively, as at 31 December 2021. The Company is currently
negotiating with bank with respect to breach of bank loan as set out in section headed “Disclosure under Rule
17.21 and Rule 17.23 of the GEM Listing Rules” in Directors’ Report. These conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in Note 3.2 to the financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern. The plans and measures undertaken to mitigate
the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position of the Group are summarised in Note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency management

We are exposed to currency risk primarily through our sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
U.S. dollars, Renminbi and GBP. We have not entered into or transacted any other financial instruments for
hedging purpose during the year ended 31 December 2021. The Directors will determine by reference to the
currency risk management policies, assess the exposure to foreign exchange risk, consider whether or not and to
what extent the Group should enter into similar forward foreign exchange contracts and monitor them in line
with the Group’s currency risk management policies.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Our capital expenditure primarily comprised of purchase of property, plant and equipment such as machinery
for production. Our capital expenditure was funded by internal resources, finance leases and bank borrowings
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The following sets forth our Group’s capital expenditure as at the dates indicated:

As at 31 December

2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$°000

Property, plant and equipment 196,747 219,066
Intangible assets 444 550
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 253 1,433
197,444 221,049

Significant investment, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures

There was no significant investment held by the Group nor any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiary,
associate and joint venture for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets

As at the date of this report, the Board does not have any plan for material investments or additions of capital
assets.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the bank facilities were secured by pledged bank deposits of the Group, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, the Group’s trade receivables, the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and corporate guarantees from the Company and certain subsidiaries. These banking facilities
amounted to HK$167,599,000 (2020: HK$312,583,000) as at 31 December 2021. These facilities were utilised
to the extent of HK$147,756,000 (2020: HK$179,631,000) as at 31 December 2021. Pledged bank deposits are
approximately HK$2.0 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$9.1 million). As at 31 December 2021, the
Group’s properties with carrying amounts of HK$95,147,000 (2020: HK$99,181,000) were pledged as collateral
for the Group’s banking facilities. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and assets held for sale with carrying amounts of HK$14,935,000 (2020: HK$4,672,000) and nil
(2020: HK$12,546,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank facilities.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group’s shares were successfully listed on GEM on 13 December 2017 (“Listing Date”). There has been no
change in the capital structure of the Group since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

COMMITMENTS

The capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2021 not provided for in the financial statements were
nil (2020: HK$4.0 million) for purchase of property, plant and equipment.

Treasury policy

The Group adopted a prudent financial management approach towards its treasury policies and maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the reporting period. To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors
the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 480 (2020: 669) employees in total. The staff costs of the Group
(including directors’ emoluments, and management, administrative and operational staff costs) for the year
ended 31 December 2021 were approximately HK$71.1 million (2020: HK$76.4 million). The Directors
and senior management receive compensation in the form of director fees, salaries, benefits in kind and/
or discretionary bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the
performance of the Group. The Group also reimburses the Directors and senior management for expenses
which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing their
functions in relation to the operations of the Group. The Group regularly reviews and determines the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior management by reference to, among
other things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies, the respective
responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of the Group.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

i) New factory and warehouse lease agreement

On 3 March 2022, the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC entered into two new lease agreements with the
Lessor, an independent third party not connected with the Group for the lease of (i) a factory; and (ii)
warehouse, both in the PRC for a term of three years commencing from 31 March 2022 to replace the
existing factory and warchouse lease agreements which expired on 30 March 2022. Details of the lease
agreements are disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8 March 2022.

ii) Issue of shares under rights issue

As disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated 10 March 2022, the Company proposed to implement
rights issue on the basis of three rights shares for every two existing shares held on a record date at a
subscription price of HK$0.044 per rights share (the “Rights Issue”). The proposed Rights Issue was
approved on a general meeting held on 25 February 2022 but was terminated on 28 March 2022. Please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 29 December 2021, 25 January 2022 and 28 March
2022, the circular of the Company dated 26 January 2022 and the prospectus of the Company dated 10
March 2022 for details.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware of any events after the reporting period that require disclosure.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the
year ended 31 December 2020: Nil). During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no arrangement under
which any shareholder of the Company waived or agreed to waive any dividend.
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INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to Rule 18.44(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”).

The Company has made continued efforts to incorporate the key elements of sound corporate governance
in its management structures and internal control procedures. The Company is committed to maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance, the principles of which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics,
transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, and to ensure that affairs are conducted in
accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Board believes that good and effective corporate governance practices are keys to obtaining and
maintaining the trust of the sharcholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and other stakeholders, and
are essential for encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain the success of the Group and to
create long-term value for the Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties in the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, which
includes developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the code
provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this report.

The Company has complied with the principles and applicable code provisions of the CG Code for the year
ended 31 December 2021, except the deviation from CG Code provision A.2.1 set out below.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Lam Sam Ming (“Mr. Lam”) is the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Lam
has over 38 years of experience in the printing industry. Mr. Lam established our Group through L & L in
December 1992. Since then he has been in charge of the overall business strategies and operation of our Group.
The Directors are of the view that it would be in the Group’s best interest for Mr. Lam to continue performing
the two roles in terms of effective management and business development. The Directors further believe that
the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board, which comprises
experienced and high-caliber individuals, with three of them being independent non-executive Directors.

Based on the above factors, the Board considers that the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code is appropriate.

Annual Report 2021 / 19



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct for securities
transactions by the Directors in respect of the Shares (the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiries
to all Directors, each of them has confirmed that he/she has fully complied with the required standard of
dealings set out in the Code of Conduct during the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board meets regularly for considering, reviewing and/or approving matters relating to, among others, the
financial and operating performance, as well as, the overall strategies and policies of our Company. Additional
meetings are held when significant events or important issues are required to be discussed and resolved.

The Directors’ responsibilities include inter alias:

. To attend regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational issues and financial
performance;

. To approve annual budgets covering strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and
opportunities;

. To monitor the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of internal and external reporting;

. To consider and approve the consolidated financial statements in quarterly, interim reports, annual

reports and announcements;

. To focus its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic policies, finances and
Shareholders;

. To consider dividend policy and dividend amount; and

. To review and monitor the corporate governance policies and practices of the Group to ensure compliance

with the legal and regulatory requirements.

The Company has taken out director liability insurance to cover liabilities arising from legal action against the
Directors.
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Composition

The composition of the Board as at the date of this report is set out as follows.

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Sam Ming (Chairman)
Ms. Yao Yuan
Ms. Chan Sau Po

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Cheung Yin
Mr. Wong Hei Chiu
Mr. Leung Vincent Gar-Gene

Save for the spousal relationship between Mr. Lam and Ms. Yao Yuan, there is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise, and have exhibited high standards of
personal and professional ethics and integrity. The profile of each Director are set out in the section headed
“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

With the various experience of the executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors (the
“INEDs”) and having regard to the nature of the Group’s business, the Company recognises the benefits of
having a Board with well-balanced experience and qualification to maintain a sustainable business development
of the Group in long run. In recognition of the Company’s commitment to a well-balanced Board, the
nomination committee is entrusted to review the Company’s human resources policy and recruitment process to
ensure the effectiveness of the policy.
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NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, four board meetings were respectively held. The
individual attendance record of the Board meetings is set out as follows:

Number of Board Meetings

Name of Directors attended/eligible to attend
Mr. Lam Sam Ming 4/4
Ms. Yao Yuan 4/4
Ms. Chan Sau Po 4/4
Ms. Cheung Yin 4/4
Mr. Wong Hei Chiu 4/4
Mr. Leung Vincent Gar-Gene 4/4

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
INEDs representing at least one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise. As such, there is a strong element in the
Board to provide independent judgment.

In accordance with code provision A.4.1 of the Code, the Company has entered into a letter of appointment
with each of the INEDs for initially a fixed term of two years commencing from 13 December 2021 and will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other

party.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each INED pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers the INEDs to remain independent as at the date of this report.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the Company for initially a fixed term of two
years commencing from 13 December 2021 and will continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving
not less than three months’ written notice to the other party.

The service agreements and/or letters of appointment of the Directors are subject to termination in accordance
with their respective terms. They can be renewed in accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(“Articles”) and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.
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As required under the Articles, all Directors are subject to election by the Shareholders at the first general
meeting after their appointment by the board of directors. At every annual general meeting of the Company
at least one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election thereat.

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the Company and ensures that it is
managed in the best interests of the Shareholders as a whole while taking into account the interest of other
stakeholders. The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the business strategy, reviewing and
monitoring the business performance of the Group, approving the financial statements and annual budgets as
well as directing and supervising the management of the Company. Execution of operational matters and the
powers thereof are delegated to the management by the Board with clear directions. The Board is regularly
provided with management report to give a balanced and understandable assessment of the performance,
position, recent development and prospect of the Group in sufficient details.

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance functions under code provision D.3.1 of the CG
Code. The Board has reviewed and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is satisfied with
the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

DIRECTORS TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist the Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company recommends Directors to
attend relevant seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors also participate
in continuous professional development programmes such as external seminars and forums organised by
qualified professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge as to the industry and skills in relation to their
contribution to the Board.

All the Directors understand the importance of continuous professional development and are committed to
participate in any suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the Reporting Period, all the Directors participated in a training seminar regarding director’s
responsibilities and duties by the Company’s legal advisers to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding
of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.
Such training seminar was related to corporate governance, connected transactions and directors’ continuing
obligations.

The Company has maintained the training record in respect of each Director. There are also arrangements in

place for providing continuing briefing and professional development to Directors by the Company whenever
necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration committee,
the nomination committee and the risk management committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established with respective written terms of reference. All
the Board committees should report to the Board on their decisions and works. The practices, procedures and
arrangements of conduct of committee meetings follow in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board
meetings and the respective terms of reference of the committees.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s
expense.

Audit Committee

The audit committee was established on 15 November 2017 with its written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise our financial
reporting process and internal control system, nominate and monitor external auditors and to provide advice
and comments to the Board on matters related to corporate governance.

The audit committee consists of three members, being Ms. Cheung Yin (Chairman), Mr. Wong Hei Chiu and
Mr. Leung Vincent Gar-Gene.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, four audit committee meetings were held. The
individual attendance record of the meetings of the audit committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings of the audit committee

Name of Directors attended/eligible to attend
Ms. Cheung Yin (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Wong Hei Chiu 4/4
Mr. Leung Vincent Gar-Gene 4/4

During the meeting, the audit committee reviewed (i) the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements
for the Reporting Period, with a recommendation to the Board for approval; (ii) the Group’s financing and
accounting policies; and (iii) the Group’s internal control system and risk management functions.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee was established on 15 November 2017 with its written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of all Directors and senior management and determine,
with delegated responsibilities, the remuneration package of individual Director and senior management.
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The remuneration committee consists of three members, being Mr. Wong Hei Chiu (Chairman), Ms. Cheung
Yin and Mr. Lam Sam Ming.

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report, one remuneration committee meeting was held.

The Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form of director fees, salaries, benefits in
kind and/or discretionary bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and the performance of the Group. The Group also reimburses the Directors and senior management for
expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing
their functions in relation to the operations of the Group. The Group regularly reviews and determines the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior management by reference to, among
other things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies, the respective
responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of the Group.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee was established on 31 December 2017 with its written terms of reference in
compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code. The primary duties of the nomination committee are
to make recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior
management.

The nomination committee consists of three members, being Mr. Lam Sam Ming (Chairman), Mr. Wong Hei
Chiu and Ms. Cheung Yin.

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report, one nomination committee meeting has been
held.

Risk Management Committee

The risk management committee on 15 November 2017 with its written terms of reference by reference to the
code provisions of the CG Code. The primary duties of the risk management committee are to assist the Board
in overseeing the Group’s compliance with laws and regulations relevant to its business operations and to review
the effectiveness of the Group’s regulatory compliance procedures and system.

The risk management committee consists of three members, being Mr. Lam Sam Ming (Chairman), Ms. Chan
Sau Po and Ms. Yao Yuan.

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report, one risk management committee meeting has been
held.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is
willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and overseeing their design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management procedures and guidelines with
defined authority for implementation by key business processes and office functions, including production,
procurement, marketing, finance, human resources, information technology. Self-evaluation has been conducted
annually to confirm that control policies are properly complied with by each department.

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to identify risks that potentially impact
the business of the Group and various aspects including key operational and financial processes, regulatory
compliance and information security. The management, in coordination with department heads, assess the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans, and monitor the risk management progress. The
management has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems for the Reporting Period.

There being no internal audit unit as the Board does not perceive the cost efficiency to set up one at the
present scale of operations of the Company, the Board has invested resources to enhance the internal control
system and to take active steps in addressing the recommendation of the internal control system review in the
management letter from the external auditors during the audit process.

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general guide to the Company’s directors,

officers, senior management and relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the Reporting Period to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flows for that year. The Directors continue to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated
financial statements and are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors about their financial reporting are set out in the independent
auditor’s report attached to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period in this
report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”) tendered its resignation as the auditor of
the Group with effect from 28 December 2021. On 28 December 2021, the Company engaged TANDEM (HK)
CPA Limited (“TANDEM?”) as the external auditor. The fees in respect of audit services provided by TANDEM
for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$1.0 million. No auditor had been engaged to provide
non-audit services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chen Kun, was appointed by the Board as the company secretary of the Company on with effect from 31
December 2020. The biographical details of Mr. Chen are set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 74 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting (“EGM”). EGMs shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders in accordance
with Companies Ordinance (Cap 622, Laws of Hong Kong), which provides (1) the members of a company may
request the directors to call a general meeting of the company; (2) the directors are required to call a general
meeting if the company has received requests to do so from members of the company representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general meetings; (3) a request (a) must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting; and (4) requests may consist of several
documents in like form; and (5) a request (a) may be sent to the company in hard copy form or in electronic
form; and (b) must be authenticated by the person or persons making it.
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Right to put enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Procedure for shareholders to put forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

The Companies Ordinance provides that, a company must give notice of a resolution if it has received requests
that it do so from: (a) the members of the company representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual general meeting to which the requests relate;
or (b) at least 50 members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual general meeting to which the
requests relate.

The Companies Ordinance also provides that, the request (a) may be sent to the company in hard copy form
or in electronic form; (b) must identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must be authenticated
by the person or persons making it; and (d) must be received by the company not later than (i) 6 weeks before
the annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (ii) if later, the time at which notice is given of that
meeting.

All request shall be sent to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
rainbow@prosperous-printing.com for the attention of the Company Secretary.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and comprehensive and transparent reporting
of its performance and activities in accordance with GEM Listing Rules.

The Company’s annual and interim reports and circulars are printed and sent to all Shareholders.

Moreover, announcements, circulars, publications and press releases of the Company are published on the
Company’s website (www.prosperous-printing-group.com.hk). The Company’s website disseminates corporate
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a timely basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good communication channel with Shareholders and the
Directors and the members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and answer questions raised by
Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective communication with Shareholders and
other stakeholders. The Board is committed to ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with ready, equal
and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the Company so as to enable Shareholders

to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders to engage actively with the Company.

During the Reporting Period, there had been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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INTRODUCTION

Prosperous Printing Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are committed to
promoting sustainable development and social responsibility, which is important to create long-term value
for the Group’s shareholders, employees and other stakeholders. The Group strives to provide employees
with a safe and healthy working environment as well as talent training and development. This report covers
environmental, social and governance matters of the Group for the year commencing 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2021 (“FY20217) and information comparative figures of the previous year ended 31 December 2020
(“FY2020”) have been included for comparison purpose.

The Group is a provider of printing products to Hong Kong-based print brokers with customers in overseas
markets and to international publishers mainly located in the U.S., U.K., Australia and Europe (excluding
U.K.). The Group’s products comprise mainly books and other paper-related products. Paper and ink are
the principal raw materials. Production activities typically involving information editing, color pantone
management, proof reading, printing plates production, offset and digital printing, stitching and binding,
quality controls, finished products packaging, warehousing, freight and delivery.

The Group’s printing production activities in Hong Kong had been contracted under lease agreement to an
independent third party as from 1 January 2021 providing the Group with exclusive production operation
support in Hong Kong operating on the Group’s existing premises, machineries and facilities. The following
comparative figures of FY2020 in respect of production activities are referring to both the Hong Kong and
Shenzhen factories while the FY2021 are referring to the Shenzhen Factory only.

This environmental, social and governance report has been prepared in compliance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 20 to Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”).

This report provides information related to the business activities of the production sites and warehouse
facilities directly controlled by the Group. Data from our customers or suppliers are not included as such data is
difficult to verify with available resources.

We believe that understanding the views of our stakeholders lays a solid foundation to the long-term growth
and success of the Group. We develop multiple channels to a broad spectrum of stakeholders in order to
provide them with the opportunity to express their views on our sustainability performance and future
strategies. To reinforce mutual trust and respect, we are committed to maintaining enduring communication
channels, both formally and informally, with stakeholders to enable us to better shape our business strategies
in order to respond to their needs and expectations, anticipate risks and strengthen key relationships. We
have identified employees, customers, suppliers, business partners, banks, shareholders, government and the
community at large as our key stakeholder groups. The information collected through different communication
processes serves as an underlying basis for the structure of this ESG Report.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 virus since 2019 and characterised by the World Health Organization as
pandemic has inadvertently affected the Group’s production and business activities into FY2021.
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1. Environmental Protection Strategy

The Group is environmental conscious and strives to operate its production processes and facilities that
maximizing our resources efficiently, improving productivity while minimizing the unfavorable impacts,
seeking to contribute to the improvement of ecological environment and sustainable development. The
Group has to ensure that our operations are compliant with all the relevant environmental rules and
regulations.

1.1 Environmental Rules and Regulations

Our printing operations are subject to various environmental rules and regulations, such as, PRC
Environmental Protection Law ( % A RILAEIRETR7#7%) ), PRC Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid Waste Law ( 3 A E 3 50 [ 8 gE 9 15 e IR 51 By i6
%) ), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

Our Shenzhen Factory is certified in conformity with the Environmental Management System
Standard: GB/T24001-2016 / ISO 14001:2015 for the Printing and Related Management Activities of
Packaging and Decoration Printing.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and greenhouse gases (“GHG”) emissions,
discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes during FY2021.

1.2 Green Production Objective

The Group has to measure, monitor and control the level of emissions of exhaust gases, GHG
and generation of hazardous wastes during production and to look for possible improvements for
reducing the level of wastes generated from production.

In October 2021, the Group’s Shenzhen factory has been granted a 5-year Waste Disposal Licence
({BEV5FF AT #)) by the Shenzhen Environmental Protection Department Longguan Office (VEJII T 4=
AE IR BE )5 HE 1] /4 22 5)) approving our internal control system for monitoring the emissions of waste
water and exhaust gases during production and in compliance with the prescribed standards required
for the printing industry.

1.2.1 Emissions Measurements

The Group’s emission of exhaust and GHG gases is primarily from purchased electricity and
fuel used in production, factories and offices. There are other indirect emissions generated, for
example, purchased paper, purchased printing plates, paper waste and business travelling.

During the offset printing process, chemically tainted water is released through washing of
the printing plates in the prepress production and the cleaning of ink rollers from the printing
presses. In the ink application process, there are certain Volatile Organic Compounds (“VOC”)
emissions such as benzene, toluene and p-xylene. Though the emissions are considered
insignificant, our Shenzhen Factory installed environmental air filters to minimise the
VOC emission. Effluent is generated in our business operation mainly for cleaning, personal
consumption of employees and usage in staff quarters.
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The Group has engaged external qualified testing companies for collecting and analyzing the
emissions of exhaust and GHG gases, effluent discharged from our Shenzhen Factory, where
the Group’s main production facilities are located. The testing basis and samples collection
procedures are conducted according to the prevailing regulations and procedures as in previous
years.

Direct emissions of GHG are from production, usage of motor and electrical vehicles, indirect
emission is due to electricity consumption.

GHG emission FY2021 FY2020

tCO,e tCO,e
Direct 26.83 36.65
Indirect 8,549.70 6,359.53
Total 8,576.53 6,396.18
Total production output in ton 14,224.08 12,016.50

tCO,e: Per ton of equivalent carbon dioxide emission

Testing results of the GHG emission of our factory confirmed full compliance with the
required environmental and safety standards in Shenzhen City.

The following testing results on the exhaust gases emitted from our Shenzhen Factory in
FY2021 also confirmed that the density of harmful content such as benzene, toluene, p-xylene
and other VOC have been in full compliance with the required environmental and safety
standards in Shenzhen City.

FY2021 FY2020

Density Speed Density Speed

(mg/m?3) (kg/h) (mg/m?) (kg/h)

Benzene K 0 0 0 0

Toluene H 7% 0.0150 0.000242 0.0200 0.000128

P-Xylene —H 2K 0.0075 0.000118 0.0067 0.000040
Non-methane hydrocarbon

F HE AR 0.7050 0.012150 N/A N/A

Other VOC 0.4150 0.007141 0.5929 0.004537

N/A: Not available
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The contents of the effluent generated from our Shenzhen Factory have also been collected
during FY2021 for testing with the improved results confirmed that we are in full compliance
with the required environmental and safety standards in Shenzhen City as indicated below.

Testing results FY2021 FY2020
pH value 7.300 7.215
Suspended matter, mg/L 0 1.50
Chemical oxygen demand, mg/L 8.50 8.25
Biochemical oxygen demand 5 days, mg/L 2.325 2.375
Ammonia nitrogen, mg/L 0.138 0.184
Total phosphorus, mg/L 0.045 N/A
Chromaticity, times 2.00 2.00

The above testing results have been published in the Shenzhen Factory’s website for public
inspection regarding environmental protection information disclosure (BR¥5 15 5.7 B %),

1.2.2 Materials Recycling

The Group aims to optimise the use of materials resources throughout the production process
and increasing the recycling use of materials for minimizing wastage. In FY2021, total paper
materials purchased were 9,697.17 ton decreased by 9.82% from 10,753.09 ton in FY2020
mainly due to the usage of existing inventories for production requirement.

Papers used in the offices are to be printed and written on both sides, documents recorded
in soft copy format that facilitate transmission through email is encouraged for reducing the
usage of papers.

In order to enhance the efficiency and tidiness for our collection of scrap paper materials from
production, we have set up centralised mechanical equipment for compression and bundling
of scrap papers in our Shenzhen Factory for expediting the process and increase the recycling
rate. Other recyclable materials such as carton box, used printing plates and waste metals are
separately identified and recycled. We are working closely with our printing ink suppliers by
returning their plastic ink containers for reuse and reduce wastage.
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The collection of waste materials in our Shenzhen Factory during FY2021 when compared with
Shenzhen and Hong Kong factories in FY2020 is as follows:

FY2021 FY2020 Changes
(in kg) Quantity Quantity Quantity Yo
Scrap papers 2,958,358 2,002,248 956,110 47.75
Used printing plates 135,760 130,251 5,509 4.23
Waste metals 0 0 0 0
Sub-total and recycled 3,094,118 2,132,499 961,619 45.09
Hazardous wastes 4 3 1 33.33
Total 3,094,122 2,132,502 961,620 45.09

All scrap papers, used printing plates and waste metals are recycled and have been disposed
to authorised collectors handling recycle of the materials. During FY2021 except for the
hazardous wastes, a total of 3,094.12 ton of waste materials, increased from 2,132.50 ton in
FY2020, has been recycled, representing a 99.99% of the waste materials being recycled as in
previous year.

For the protection of our customers’ intellectual property rights, all the scrap printed papers
and books must be shredded before being recycled. For the printing plates, these must be left
idle for at least 60 days for oxidation before sending to waste collector for recycling.

The wooden pallets used during transportation and delivery of goods have also been recycled
and returned for usage and increased from 2,267 pieces in FY2020 to 2,355 pieces in FY2021.

During FY2021, the total amount of hazardous wastes generated from our production was
equivalent to almost 0.03% per kg unit of production when compared with 0.02% in FY2020.
The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group during FY2021 that were recycled was
equivalent to 0.22 per kg unit of production when compared with 0.18 similarly in FY2020.

1.2.3 Hazardous Waste Management

For the disposal of hazardous wastes generated from production, we strictly follow the
PRC Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid Waste Law and
engaged independent authorised waste collector for disposal of the hazardous wastes. Our
administration department maintains proper records on the amount of hazardous wastes
disposed each year.

Our employees are required to comply with the following practices and procedures for the
proper handling of hazardous wastes:

. Employees who are required to handle hazardous waste must attended the required
training before assigned to their positions
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. Clear instructions and protective equipment are provided to employees handling the
wastes
. Hazardous wastes are stored in rigid containers to avoid spillage and at designated

storage area

During FY2021, a total of 3.80 ton of hazardous wastes was produced and increased by 12.76%
from 3.37 ton in FY2020 with the majority of the hazardous waste was attributable to the
residues generated from treatment of sewage water.

1.2.4 Shipment of Products

The Group encourages our customers to consolidate the shipment volumes and orders if
applicable for reducing the numbers of individual shipment that can minimise the times of
sea voyages on the environmental impact. The Group is using recyclable pallets for loading
products to containers.

1.2.5 Environmental Monitoring Costs

The Group has incurred recurrent operating costs for monitoring and management of our
internal control system on environmental protection, including engagement of qualified
companies to conduct testing on the emissions of exhaust gases and effluent during production
processes to ensure that we are in full compliance with all the environmental and safety laws
and regulations.

With our commitment to environmental protection, during FY2021, total direct costs incurred
on environmental protection in the treatment of effluent, different types of testing, installation
of a new monitoring system for exhaust gases emission during printing production, cleaning of
air ventilation facilities for improving air flow efficiency in our Shenzhen Factory decreased
by 43.05% from HKD1,753,972 in FY2020 to HKD998,884 mainly attributable to the
maintenance of existing and installation of new treatment facilities for exhaust gas and effluent
in the factory premises.

1.2.6 Management Approach for FY2022
(i) Reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions:

. To monitor and control GHG emission per unit of production output in full
compliance with the laws and regulations

(ii)) Recycle materials to minimise waste and conserve resources:

. To continue promoting the use of digital format data for saving document printing
. To continue monitoring the efficient collection of scrap paper materials for
recycling
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1.3 High Performance Production Objective

The Group is to achieve high performance production using the necessary materials and avoid using
excessive resources causing wastage and environmental unfriendly.

1.3.1 Monitoring Resources Usage

The principal raw material used for production is paper and close monitoring on paper usage
in relation to our level of production to ensure no excessive usage.

The Group’s usage of paper, printing plate, ink, electricity and water during FY2021 and
compared with FY2020 is as follows:

FY2021 FY2020 Change
Amount Amount Amount
(HKD) (HKD) (HKD) %
Paper 65,260,221 57,881,173 7,379,048 12.75
Printing plate 5,735,696 4,183,916 1,551,780 37.09
Printing ink 4,151,388 4,238,279 (86,891) (2.05)
Electricity charges 7,357,089 6,089,963 1,267,126 20.81
Water charges 238,094 256,949 (18,855) (7.34)
Total production output in (kg) 14,224,079 12,016,500 2,207,579 18.37
Average number of employee 518 632 (114) (18.04)

The direct energy consumption in respect of electricity charges during FY2021 for the Group
was HKDO.52 per kg of production output compared with HKDO0.51 in FY2020. The indirect
water consumption during FY2021 for the Group was maintained at the level of HKD0.02 per
kg of production output as in FY2020.

The higher usages of papers, printing plates and electricity charges were attributable to the
higher production orders received in FY2021.

1.3.2 Production Management

We have been implementing production automation and efficient production management
to maximise our resources efficiency and improve our productivity without compromising
the quality of our product. Our Shenzhen Factory is certified with Recognition of Excellence
as a G7 Master Qualified Facility, conformity with Quality Management System Standard
ISO9001: 2015 and also certified as Master Facility Colorspace that our quality on printing
and the production facility satisfies globe recognised industry standard. In FY2021, our
average production output per employee was 27,460 kg increased by 44.43% from 19,013 kg of
the previous year mainly due to increase in production orders and efficiency. Subcontracting
charges in FY2021 was HKD45,304,079 decreased by 30.89% from HKD65,552,532 in
FY2020.

Annual Report 2021 / 35



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

1.3.3 Production Automation

We are using our self-developed direct refill system for siphoning ink directly from centralised
tanks to the individual printing press. This automatic refill system ensures the continuous
supply of ink to the printing presses without stoppage, thus enhancing production efficiency
and at the same time, overcame the wastage of ink and time when compared with manually
transferred ink from containers to the individual printing presses.

The Group’s computer-to-plate (CTP) machinery and systems have eliminated the requirement
for the production of ozalids that saved the usage of special papers and chemicals for
producing the ozalids. The blueprints of books and paper products can be produced efficiently
by the CTP system upon receiving the digital information directly from customers for
download directly that increase accuracy, shorten lead-time for checking and approval by
customers.

The Group has been working with an external software company for developing our in-house
designed automatic marking system for tracking the movements of work-in-progress (WIP)
under different stages in production. Information and the required processing procedures of
a production order will be first input to the software system. Information is then updated to
the system after the completion of one production process and barcodes will be printed out for
attaching to the WIP before passing on to the next department for handling. A barcode reading
machine installed in the next department will record the information on the incoming WIP and
similarly after completion, the department is required to update the information in the system
and print out the revised barcodes for attaching to the WIP. This system can provide real time
tracking information on the current status of all the production orders.

In addition, we have installed digital printing machines both in Hong Kong and the Shenzhen
Factory for meeting customers’ orders under quick turnaround time and use less electricity and
ink when compared with the traditional offset printing presses.

The aforementioned automated machineries and system have significantly improved our
production efficiency, required less intensive labor and made significant improvements in the
quality and consistency of our production.

1.3.4 Use of Water and Electricity

The Group is committed to conserving the use of water as a valuable natural resource. We
only use water supplied from municipal sources in our Shenzhen Factory and do not have any
on-site wells. Although water is not directly utilised for production, the Group has engaged
external qualified testing companies to conduct testing on the effluent collected from our
Shenzhen Factory to ensure our compliance with the required environmental and safety
standards. Sprinkler is used on hose for watering plants in the Shenzhen Factory.

Effluent is mainly generated from cleaning and the employees’ living activities in Shenzhen
Factory. Effluent is collected in a tank for purification treatment before being channeled for
flushing the washrooms. We have put up notices at the eye-catching areas to increase the
awareness of our employees on conserving water. We shall continue managing the usage of
water consumption and to maintain and repair the water pipes in Shenzhen Factory for that
purpose.
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Water charges decreased by 6.95% to HKD239,094 during FY2021 due to the production
facilities in Hong Kong had been contracted out for the water consumption while the frequent
cleaning and sanitizing of premises with water and disinfectant in Shenzhen Factory continued
for maintaining hygienic environment under the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Group has been using more energy efficient LED lightings for energy savings and notices
have been placed at the entrance areas for reminding employees to switch off all lightings,
air- conditioning system and electrical appliances during lunch break and after office hour
before leaving. We have been using more telephone and video conferencing for conducting
meetings between Hong Kong and Shenzhen offices and with customers for saving the
travelling and time required, making contribution to environmental saving. The use of mobile
telecommunication system has become essential during the COVID-19 pandemic.

1.3.5 Management Approach for FY2022

(i) Enhance the barcode tracking system, implement suitable automation in production,
strengthen the operational management, improve production efficiency and productivity:

. To increase production output per worker by 5%
. To maintain the electricity usage in the level of production output

(ii)) Monitor water consumption:

. To continue with water saving campaigns throughout the Group
. To maintain total water consumption quantity commensurate with the level of
production

1.4 Environmental Friendly Materials Objective

The Group aims to apply more environmental friendly materials in our production and reducing the
usage of materials that are very difficult to recycle.

1.4.1 Paper

We encourage our customers to use papers coming from sustainable forestry with Forest
Stewardship Council “FSC” label endorsement. We have obtained the FSC Chain-of Custody
certification for our usage of the FSC label on our products when certain criteria are met.
Product with FSC label affixed provides a confirmation to our customer and the end consumer
that the product is originated from well-managed forests, controlled sources, reclaimed
materials or a mixture of these.

During FY2021, the quantity of FSC papers used in our production increased by 3.46% to

2,989.62 tons when compared with 2,889.58 tons used in FY2020 attributable to customers’
growing awareness of using environmental friendly papers.
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1.4.2 Soybean Oil Based Ink

We are using soybean oil based ink in our printing presses for all production. Compared
to the traditional solvent base ink, the soybean oil based ink is environmental friendly that
substantially reduces the emission of VOC to the atmosphere both in the product itself and
during production, which also improves the air quality at our workplace. The Group will
continue to use soybean oil based ink going forward.

1.4.3 Plastic Material

With the growing awareness of the difficulty in recycling plastic materials, we are encouraging
our employees to reduce the usage of single use plastic items during production and daily
activities, such as plastic holders, utensils, cups, bags, etc. Plastic film has been used in the
bulk packaging of finished products when loading on pallets and we are looking for alternative
materials and method for replacing the plastic film if possible.

1.4.4 Management Approach for FY2022
(i) Usage of environmental friendly materials in our production when applicable and to
encourage our customers and employees to be environmental friendly and give more

consideration on using sustainable resources.

. To continue looking for environmental friendly material for replacing the current
plastic film for bulk packaging of finished products when loading on pallets

. To encourage our customers to use papers with FSC label in their products

2. Employment Strategy

The Group is to maintain good relationship with employees who are valuable assets, encouraging
the employees for personal development, providing the employees with a safe and pleasant working
environment.

Good relationship with the employees can foster their job satisfaction, encourage increasing productivity
and with a lower turnover rate.
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The demographics of the Group’s employees at the year-end date of FY2021 when compared with FY2020
are as follows:

FY2021 FY2020 Changes
Number Number Number %
Number of employees at year end 480 546 (66) (12.09)
— Male 290 352 (62) (17.61)
— Female 190 194 “4) (2.06)
Average number of employees during the year 518 632 (114) (18.04)
Employees working for
— Over 5 years 335 365 30) (8.22)

2.1 Competitive Remuneration Objective

The Group considers offering competitive remuneration package is necessary for the attraction and
retention of employees.

2.1.1 Compensation and Benelits

All the employees of the Group are required to enter into employment contracts when
enrollment for clearly stating out the terms and conditions, salaries and allowances, benefits
and job duties of the employees. A copy of the employee handbook is also provided to each
employee in the Shenzhen Factory when he first joined.

The Group complies with all the Labour Law of the PRC and Hong Kong, the Implementing
Regulations of the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for
Employees, PRC Social Insurance Law and Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong together
with other relevant laws and regulations.

We provide social insurance, including basic pension insurance, basic medical insurance, work-
related injury insurance, unemployment insurance and maternity insurance to our employees in
PRC according to PRC Social Insurance Law and MPF according to the Mandatory Provident
Scheme Ordinance in Hong Kong.

The Group also offers for employees in Hong Kong with four to ten years of continuous
service, the employer’s additional voluntary contributions equal to 5% to 10% of the
employees’ monthly basic salaries when the employees make additional voluntary contributions
to the MPF Scheme at the same time, subject to the maximum limit of 10%. Additionally, the
Group had arranged with a medical service provider in Hong Kong offering those employees
who had completed three years of employment for personal health check programs at special
discounted rates.

The Group adopts an 8-hour working system and voluntary overtime. Overtime is limited to be
within statutory limit to protect employees’ health. In addition, the Group prohibits employee
to work on a technical task before the relevant employee has received adequate training to
safeguard employees’ safety.
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The Human Resources Department is monitoring the salaries and remuneration packages
offering to employees both in Hong Kong and PRC that the Group’s remuneration packages
are competitive when compared with other employers offering similar job duties and working
conditions.

Excluding the directors’ remuneration, the total employees’ costs incurred by the Group for
FY2021 when compared with FY2020 are as follows:

FY2021 FY2020 Changes
Amount Amount Amount
(HKD) (HKD) (HKD) %
Salaries and allowances 60,574,000 65,474,773 (4,900,773) (7.48)
Social and retirement benefits 10,611,963 12,528,684 (1,916,721) (15.30)
Total 71,185,963 78,003,457 (6,817,494) (8.74)

2.1.2 Employees Turnover

Majority of the Group’s employees is working in the Shenzhen Factory, and due to the
general high mobility of employees in Shenzhen City, the turnover rate of new employees who
have been employed for less than two years, has been high and in line with general market
conditions. The continuous economic development in Shenzhen City has offered various
different kinds of job opportunities that downplayed the attraction for people working in the
industrial sector, especially for the younger generation.

Out of the resigned employees during FY2021, 60.39% were employed for less than 2 years
when compared with 64.66% in FY2020. Due to the relocation of the Shenzhen Factory
in November 2019, some of the employees decided to resign and looking for other job
opportunities.

Number of employees who resigned in FY2021 and FY2020:

FY2021 FY2020 Change %

Less than 2 years of employment 93 172 (79) (45.93)
Employees with over 2 years of

employment 61 94 33) (35.11)

Total employees resigned 154 266 (112) (42.11)
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In order to attract employees continue working for the Group, competitive remuneration
package, good relationship with the employees with promotion prospects are continue to be
applicable. The Group continues to pay high regard to the employees who have serviced the
Group over the past years and contribute to the Group’s success. additional 3 awards were
given to employees of the Group who have been employed for over 20 years and another
additional 3 awards were given to those who have been employed for over 15 years as our
token of appreciation for their contributions and hard work. Annual dinners had not been
arranged during the year as a result of the health restriction for people gathering and banquet
during the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.

2.1.3 Employee Communication

Open communications is an important element in achieving effective workplace management.
Proper communication with the employees is very important for the employees to understand
the business strategies and future development of the Group.

We encourage employees to voice their opinions through various communication channels
at all levels. We provide suggestion boxes, website, internal newsletters and communication
meetings where employees can express their concerns and suggestions. Both the telephone
numbers and email addresses of the Shenzhen Factory Manager and the Chief Representative
of the Labour Union are available for all the employees of our Shenzhen Factory. Information,
opinions and suggestions gathered from the employees are to be followed up by our Human
Resources Department for discussion with senior management.

The Group encourages the employees to discuss any issues and problems they identified
directly with their supervisors. The Group has the whistle-blowing policy whereby an employee
can inform the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Group of any suspected wrong doings
and other irregularities that they have identified.

2.1.4 Management Approach for FY2022

(i) Enhance the good relationship with employees through various communication channels
and employees’ activities:

. To continue encouraging open communications at all levels of the Group and
facilitates employees to give their opinions through various communication
channels

. To continue providing different types of activities for the employees

. To maintain the turnover rate of employees with over 2 years of employment below
10%

. To maintain the number of employees with over 5 years of employment with the
Group
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2.2 Personal Development and Advancement Objective

The Group considers personal development of employee is important for future advancement in
career. Learning of new skills and knowledge is necessary for equipping the employee to handle
additional job duties not only in his own specialty area, but also in different duty and supervisory
function.

2.2.1 Training programs

The Human Resources Department encourages our employees to develop and advance their
careers in the Group and organised training courses for the employees. Each new employee of
our Shenzhen Factory is required to attend training on employees’ regulations and information
on counter terrorist, additional training will be provided for those handling safety information
and precautions on their daily job duties.

We have provided internal trainings on industrial safety and fire drill for the employees of
our Shenzhen Factory to stay alert of fire accident and the passages for evacuation in case
of emergency. Our employees have also participated in training courses on quality control,
information security, hacking activities and social responsibilities.

FY2021 FY2020
Total Total
Person- training Person- training
times hours times hours
Orientation programs 244 244 175 256
Fire and chemical leakage drills 1,149 1,335 2,252 2,252
On-the-job trainings 59 50 1,435 1,452
Outside trainings 460 460 11 11
Safety on job resumption 460 460 0 0
Total 2,372 2,549 3,873 3,971

The total number of times employees participated in the training courses decreased from
3,873 in FY2020 to 2,372 in FY2021 and total hours for attending training courses decreased
from 3,971 hours to 2,549 hours mainly due to reduced number of employees of the Shenzhen
Factory. The average total training hours per total average number of employee in FY2021
decreased to 4.9 hours when compared with 6.2 hours in FY2020.

We encourage our employees to explore their potential talents and offer them opportunities

to learn technical and management skills to prepare themselves for taking up leadership roles
when ready in supporting our continuous growth.
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2.2.2 Management Approach for FY2022

(i) Foster a continuous learning environment and encourage employees to develop and
advance their careers in the Group:

. To meet the training needs of employees, provide training courses for new
information and career development

. To maintain the average training hours per employee at 5 hours each year

2.3 Respect of Labor and Human Rights Objective

The Group is committed to respect the labor and human rights of all our employees through the
following principles as stated in our human resources management policies:

Freely Chosen Employment — We do not use forced or prison labor. We ensure that the terms of
employment are voluntary. Our employees work at the Group of their own free will and are free to
resign upon giving reasonable notice under the employment contract. We do not require employees
to lodge deposits or hand over passports or work permits as a condition of employment.

No Child Labor — We comply with all appropriate local and international regulations in relation to
the restrictions on the employment of child labor.

Freedom of Association — We allow our employees have the freedom of association to join any
organizations or professional bodies of their own choices.

Anti-slavery — We are committed to respect and treat our employees with dignity. We do not
tolerate any forced labor and we do not accept any physical and financial punishment for employee
wrongdoing.

Benefits and Wages — We ensure that the remuneration and benefits for our employees comply with
or exceed the minimum legal requirements. We maintain proper communication with our employees
and understand their needs and conduct regular communication meetings to have direct dialogs with
our employees.

Overtime policy — Overtime is voluntary and employees are compensated for overtime in accordance
with the laws.

Equal Opportunity and No Discrimination Policy — We ensure that our hiring, compensation,
training, promotion, termination and retirement policies and practices do not discriminate on the
grounds of age, sex, marital status, race, religion, disability or any other non-job related factors.
Remuneration is determined with reference to performance, qualifications and experience.

Harassment and Abuse — We do not tolerate any physical, sexual, psychological or verbal
harassment or abuse towards our employees.
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Any issues or enquiries raised by our employees through different communication channels will
be handled and investigated promptly and confidentially by the Human Resources Department,
followed by disciplinary measures if necessary.

No case of misconduct was reported during FY2021 and we are committed to upholding the
professional ethical conduct and the highest level of integrity of our employees.

2.3.1 Management Approach for FY2022

(i) Respect the labor and human rights of all the employees with clearly defined human
resources management policies:

. To continue the Group’s human resources management policies in compliance with
the regulatory requirements

2.4 Healthy Workplace for Employees Objective

The Group aims to provide a pleasant, supportive and healthy workplace for our employees, and to
foster a caring working environment. We recognised that having a motivated workforce is important
in the Group’s efficient operations.

2.4.1 Implementation of Health Precautionary Measures

The Group has implemented new health precautionary measures and protocols effective since
February 2020 for the health protection of our employees under the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic. Our Shenzhen Factory has implemented restricted access management procedure
since 17 February 2020 that security guards are responsible to check and ensure all persons
who enter the Shenzhen Factory are required (i) to wear proper facial masks, (ii) to confirm in
writing whether recent visits have been made to highly infectious provinces or cities in China or
overseas, (iii) to measure the body temperature, and (iv) to apply alcohol disinfectant to clean
hands that all procedures are satisfied before the person can gain entrance.

Other precautionary measures such as regular cleaning and sanitizing procedures in the office
and factory premises, prescribed usage of surgical masks, gloves, disinfectants, cleaning
materials provided by the Group are also advised to all the employees.

Quarantine areas are set up in the Shenzhen Factory for employees who have visited the highly
infectious provinces or cities before and to reside there for 14 days to be sure of not getting any
infection before allow back to work.

There are also additional rules and regulations for the prevention of possible cross-infection
of the COVID-19 virus for employees when taking meals, sitting plans in canteen, lunch break
hours, control of different types of vehicles entering the Shenzhen Factory. Employees are
reminded of the importance of maintaining personal hygiene and physical health to enhance
their personal immunity system against illness.
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2.4.2 Compliance with Safety Standards

Our Shenzhen Factory is certified with Work Safety Standardization by the State
Administration of Work Safety in PRC confirming that our facilities operate with the required
standards on social responsibility, health and safety. According to the requirements of our
customers for additional certification, our Shenzhen Factory is also certified with ICTI Ethical
Toy Program, Disney’s Facility and Merchandise Authorization endorsement that validate our
compliance with local laws and high quality working conditions.

FY2021 FY2020 Changes %

Numbers of injuries and accidents
reported 28 23 5 21.74
Loss of working days 182 235 (53) (22.55)
Fatality case 0 0 0 0

During FY2021, our loss of working days was 182, which was lower than 235 days in FY2020.
The number of injuries and accidents reported in FY2021 was 28 cases increased from 23
cases happened in FY2020 as we have broadened the range of reporting cases including minor
injuries for our tracking purpose on health precautionary measures and we did not have any
work related fatality case.

2.4.3 Safety Training

Maintaining an accident-free workplace environment is always a challenge. Our Human
Resources Department has established health and safety training programs to increase the
awareness of workplace safety. Each new employee working in our Shenzhen Factory is
required to undergo orientation programs training before they are assigned to work in their job
positions.

Other trainings mainly focus on work safety and health protection including fire drills,
occupational injury prevention training, fall prevention training, workplace safety training
such as chemical usage, machinery safety and forklift operation, which reinforces the idea and
awareness of occupational and fire safety for our employees.

Due to restriction on the numbers of persons allowed in gathering under COVID-19, the
Group arranged limited external training courses for employees’ participation.
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2.4.4 Management Approach for FY2022

(i) Provide a supportive, pleasant and healthy workplace for the employees and foster a
caring working environment:

. To provide health and safety training courses if applicable for employees and
reminding them the importance of industrial safety

. To reduce the loss of working hours due to injuries at or below 500 days

. To ensure a zero work related fatality case

3.  Supply Chain Management Strategy

A well-established supply chain management is necessary to manage the selection of approved suppliers
with quality materials and a system to continue monitoring the performance of suppliers is crucial for the
Group’s sustainable operations.

3.1 Reliable Suppliers Objective

The Group’s supply chain management system is for selection of reliable and qualified suppliers
to work with the Group for providing quality and timely supply of materials for production
requirements on an on-going basis.

We aim at building long-term relationships with our suppliers based on mutual trust that all
purchases must be under a fair, objective and professional manner. Our procurement is based upon
criteria that not only price, quality, delivery capacity are important, but also integrity, social and
environmental responsibility.

3.1.1 Selection of Suppliers

Suppliers can be coming from trade referrals, for new materials, replacement of existing
supplier, and all the new suppliers need to go through a comprehensive supplier audit to ensure
meeting our procurement criteria before acceptance as approved suppliers.

During FY2021, all of our major suppliers are from the local industries in PRC and Hong
Kong and the major material that the Group purchased for the year is paper material
accounting for 67.20% of total purchases of materials compared with 52.66% in FY2020. The
selection of local suppliers can reduce the transportation requirement that is environmental
friendly and also shorten the delivery lead-time for production efficiency.

3.1.2 Monitoring and Assessment
We conduct testing and examinations at an early stage of production process on the critical

materials to identify any possible defective issues and to discuss with the suppliers for
corrective actions in a timely manner.
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There are regular performance assessments on the approved suppliers for continuing meeting
our selection criteria and to ensure that any unfavorable issues on the supply of materials can
be identified earlier to mitigate the potential risks that could affect our production planning,
delivery and quality of our products.

If there are areas of non-compliance identified during the supplier audit, the supplier is
required to propose corrective actions and implementation schedule for our follow up checking
to confirm that the corrective actions have been properly implemented.

During FY2021, we have not conducted external audit of our major suppliers due to the
COVID-19 while we have been closely monitoring our major suppliers internally especially
during the pandemic environment. A small number of local suppliers were added as approved
suppliers for the supply of consumables to our Shenzhen Factory.

3.1.3 Management Approach for FY2022

(i) Continue managing our supply chain in a socially and environmentally responsible
manner and source from approved suppliers who satisfied the Group’s procurement
criteria.

. To conduct regular assessments and audit on 5 major suppliers

4. Product Responsibility Strategy

We should be a responsible producer of products that comply with all the necessary quality and safety
standards for final consumption by consumers without any concern for hazardous substance and
defective.

4.1 Quality Product Objective

From initial design to final production, our products should meet the customers’ specified standards
on design and material usage to ensure that our products also comply with the necessary quality and
safety standards before shipment.

4.1.1 Product Safety

We are committed to manufacture products that meet the highest international health and
safety standards. All our products follow strict specifications on banned and restricted
substances on the ink, paper, glue, and plastic film materials in our production. Our products
sold in the United States and Europe are in compliance with the required safety standards, such
as RoHS (Restriction of Hazardous Substances) Directive, EN (European Standards), SVHC
(Substances of Very High Concern) under REACH (Registration, Evaluation, Authorization
and Restriction of Chemicals) Regulation, ASTM (American Society for Testing and
Materials) Standards.
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4.1.2 Quality Control and Testing Procedures

We have implemented a stringent quality control system, from materials, components,
machines and equipment, and the final products to ensure that the use of all materials
and production processes are compliant with both international and local standards and
requirements.

Our production facilities are all certified with ISO9001 and ISO14001. Under the quality
management system, quality assurance is performed to examine the product’s quality against
the acceptance quality level standard at every stage of the production process. Incoming raw
materials, such as paper and ink, are periodically tested against customers’ required technical
specifications. Colours are matched against the customers’ approved blue print. Finished
goods are to undergo a number of tests and visual inspections, before packaging and delivery
to ensure the exact customers’ specifications are met. We have also maintained a professional
customer services team with high service standard to ensure responsiveness to customers’
needs. By implementing the highest level of standard on quality management, we provide not
only excellent products with services, but also safe and secured products to our customers.

4.1.3 Management Approach for FY2022

(i) Continue to ensure that all products are compliant with the international quality and
safety standards

. To comply and enhance the Group’s quality control system on production
. To ensure zero product recalls, fines or penalties relating to non-compliance with
regulations

5. Anti-Corruption

We are committed to establish and maintain an ethical culture that honesty and integrity are the
basic attributes of all our employees that we should prevent any frauds that could happened in all our
business activities. We shall uphold the high standard of honesty and integrity for the interests of all our
stakeholders, including our employees, suppliers and customers.

Amongst all the internal rules and regulations for anti-corruption, all the employees, including the
directors, are forbidden from receiving benefits, interests from others that can possibly create conflicts of
interests when they are exercising their job duties. All the employees who are looking for part-time jobs
must first obtained prior approval for ensuring there are no conflicts of interests.

All of our employees are free to report any suspected fraud or corruption activities to top management
and the Group has the whistle-blowing policy allowing the reporting directly to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee for taking further investigations and necessary actions on allegations for protecting the overall
interests of the Group. Our internal control policy has specified control procedures for conducting the
investigation and no reprisals shall be made against the employee reporting the suspected case.
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The Group complied with all relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. There was no case received by the Group during FY2021 and also FY2020 for reporting any
suspected fraud and corruption activities that reflect the proper and fair conduct of the Group’s business
and operating activities.

6. Community Investment

The Group has an obligation to offer community investment as being part of the local community where
the Group’s operations are located and we strive to operate as a responsible corporate and continually
support the economic and social vitality of local communities.

During FY2021, amidst the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has focused the community services on
public health consideration; in our Shenzhen factory, we provided volunteer workers in a local hospital
for 70 counts, 15 counts on urban assistance in separation of wastes, 8 counts on public road safety and 1
count assistance in a local maternity and child healthcare hospital.

7. Closing remarks

As a responsible corporate citizen, we will continue to make efforts contributing to the well being on
environmental protection and social responsibility in the Group’s overall business strategies and activities,
taking into consideration to add value for our stakeholders and to also care for the communities.
Although we have yet to see the light at the end of the COVID-19 tunnel, we have full confidence that
with our perseverance and joint efforts with the society in protecting all our personal health and applying
strategies against the pandemic, we shall overcome the current adversities hopefully in the not too distant
future.
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The Board hereby present the Directors’ report and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”).

LISTING ON GEM
The Company was incorporated as a limited liability company in Hong Kong on 23 December 1992.

The Company became the holding company of the Group upon the completion of the corporate reorganisation
(the “Reorganisation”), details of which are set out in the section headed “History, Reorganisation and
Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus.

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the GEM on 13 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of printing products to Hong Kong-based print brokers with
customers in overseas markets and to international publishers mainly located in the U.S., U.K., Australia and
Europe (excluding U.K.). The Group’s products comprise mainly books and other paper-related products. The
two production sites were the Shenzhen Factory and the Hong Kong Factory. Each of these factories is a self-
functioning printing and production arm of the Group, and they share the printing workload allocated by the
Group’s management.

For the development, performance or position of the Group’s business, details are set out in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

For the principal financial risks and uncertainties facing the Company, details are set out in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

(A) Environmental policies and performance

The Board is aware that addressing environmental concerns is an important issue for contributing to the
continuous development of society (along with the business activities of the Company).

An environmental policy and manual of procedures have been effective upon Listing which demonstrates
the Group’s commitment to environmental protection. All staff, subcontractors and suppliers are required
to diligently implement the policy and the manual, which will be reviewed regularly in light of experience,
feedback from staff, business development, current legislations and regulations.

(B) Compliance with laws and regulations
To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Group’s operation in Hong Kong has complied with

the applicable laws and regulations in all material respects during the Reporting Period, and up to the date
of this report.
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(C) Key relationships with employees, customers and suppliers

The Directors are of the view that the Company has maintained good relationship with its employees,
customers, suppliers and bankers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Reporting Period.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group, as extracted from the Prospectus and the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 and
2021 are set out in this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by our Group during the Reporting Period
are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements in this report comprising (i) directors and
senior management remuneration; and (ii) a partnership (“Partnership”) in which Mr. Lam and Ms. Yao hold
interest, has granted to the Company an exclusive right (“Licences’ Usage Right”) to use the vehicles licences
free of change, while our Company has granted to Ms. Yao and Mr. Lam, in their capacities as the partners of
the Partnership, a non-exclusive licence to use the names “Prosperous” or “E H” (whether used individually
or together) for the Partnership (the “Names’ Usage Right”). Our Directors (including our independent
non-executive Directors) are of the view that the transactions are on normal commercial terms or better:

. the granting to Ms. Yao and Mr. Lam, in their capacities as the partners of the Partnership, the Names’
Usage Right for the sole purpose of holding the Vehicle Licences in return for the granting to our
Company Licences’ Usage Right is part and parcel of the reciprocal arrangement contemplated;

. Ms. Yao and Mr. Lam, in their capacities as the partners of the Partnership agreed to grant to our Group
the Licences’ Usage Right without charging any fee and only in consideration of our Company granting
them, in their capacities as the partners of the Partnership, the Names’ Usage Right; and

. Ms. Yao and Mr. Lam, in their capacities as the partners of the Partnership, have collectively and
individually undertaken to our Group that they will not use the names “Prosperous” or “& H.” or other

similar names except for holding the Vehicle Licences.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions — Exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus.
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All these transactions are fully exempt from the reporting announcement, independent shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all other relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 17.21 AND RULE 17.23 OF THE GEM
LISTING RULES

In respect of bank loans with carrying amount of HK$138,557,000 secured by the pledged bank deposits as
at 31 December 2021, the Group breached the corresponding bank covenants, which are primarily related
to maintain the net tangible assets of the Group at HK$200,000,000. Such breach was noted after the end of
the reporting period when the Group performed an impairment assessment on the trade receivables as at 31
December 2021 and an impairment loss of HK$56,150,000 was made, which decreased the Group’s net tangible
assets. The Company is currently in renegotiation of the terms of the loans with the bank. The negotiation in
respect of the breach of loan covenants of bank loans are now ongoing.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in Note
28 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 15 November 2017, the terms of which are in
accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

A summary of the Scheme is set out below:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide additional incentive to any eligible persons of the Group and to
promote the success of the Group’s business.

(b) Participants

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, invite any eligible persons
to join the Scheme.

(c) Total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date. i.e. a total of 80,000,000 Shares
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted to any participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share option schemes
of the Company in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit must be separately approved by Shareholders in
general meeting.
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(e) Period within which the securities must be taken up under an option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.

(f) Minimum period for which an option must be held before exercise

The Board may in its absolute discretion set a minimum period for which an option must be held before an
option can be exercised.

(g) Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance of the option

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days inclusive of the day on which such
offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of an option is HKS$1.

(h) Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Scheme shall be a
price solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.

(i) Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing on 24 September 2016 and shall
expire at the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof

unless terminated earlier by Shareholders in general meeting.

No share option has been granted or exercised under the Scheme during the Reporting Period. No share
option was outstanding as at the year end date of the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the
Reporting Period.

DEBENTURE

No debenture was issued by the Company during the Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as the Scheme, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company or subsisted during the
Reporting Period which (a) will or may result in the Company issuing Shares; or (b) requires the Company to
enter into an agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares.
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DONATION

The Group has not made any charitable donation of not less than HK$10,000 during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, each Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of claims and legal actions against the
Directors and its officers.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(a) Interests and/or short positions of Directors in the Shares, underlying shares or
debentures of our Company and its associated corporations

As at the year end date of the Reporting Period, our Directors had the following interests and/or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of our Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV the Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”)) which had to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which will be required pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein, or pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules relating to securities transactions by our Directors, will be required to be notified to our Company
and the Stock Exchange:

(1) Interests in our Company

Number of  Percentage of
Shares interest in our

Name of Director Capacity (Note 1) Company
Mr. Lam (Note 2&4) Interest of controlled corporation 480,000,000 (L) 60%
Ms. Yao (Note 3&4) Interest of spouse 480,000,000 (L) 60%
Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long positions in the Shares.

2. These 480,000,000 Shares are held by First Tech, which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lam. As such, Mr. Lam is
deemed to be interested in these 480,000,000 Shares under the SFO upon the Listing.

3. Ms. Yao is the spouse of Mr. Lam. Under the SFO, Ms. Yao is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Mr. Lam is interested.
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4. The Company was notified by First Tech Inc. (“First Tech”), a controlling shareholder (as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules) of the Company, that on 12 October 2018, First Tech had executed a charge over its 72,000,000 shares (the
“Charged Shares”) in the issued share capital of the Company in favour of a third party (“Lender”) as security for a loan
granted by the Lender to First Tech. First Tech is wholly owned by Mr. Lam Sam Ming, the chairman and controlling
shareholder of the Company. As at the date of this report, the Charged Shares represent 9% of the issued share capital of
the Company. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 12 October 2018.

(i1) Interests in associated corporation of our Company

Percentage of

Name of Name of associated Number of shareholding
Director corporation Capacity shares held interest
Mr. Lam First Tech Beneficial owner 50,000 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at the year end date of the Reporting Period, none of our Directors had
any interests and/or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of our Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had to be
notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which will be required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in
the register referred to therein or pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors.

(b) Interests and/or short position of substantial shareholders in the Shares which are
discloseable under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO

So far as is known to our Directors, as at the year end date of the Reporting Period, the following persons
(not being a Director or chief executive of our Company) had an interest or a short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to our Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or will be interested in 10% or more of the total number of issued Shares of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other members of our

Group:

Number of Percentage of
Name of Shares interest in our
substantial shareholder Capacity (Note 1) Company
First Tech (Note 2, 3) Beneficial owner 480,000,000 (L) 60%
Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long positions in the Shares.
2. First Tech is a company incorporated in the BVI which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lam, an executive Director.
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3. The Company was notified by First Tech Inc. (“First Tech”), a controlling shareholder (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules)
of the Company, that on 12 October 2018, First Tech had executed a charge over its 72,000,000 shares (the “Charged Shares™) in
the issued share capital of the Company in favour of a third party (“Lender”) as security for a loan granted by the Lender to First
Tech. First Tech is wholly owned by Mr. Lam Sam Ming, the chairman and controlling shareholder of the Company. As at the
date of this report, the Charged Shares represent 9% of the issued share capital of the Company. For further details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 12 October 2018.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to our Directors, as at the year end date of the Reporting
Period, there are no other person (not being a Director or chief executive of our Company) who had an
interest or a short position in the Shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to our
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or will be interested in 10% or
more of the voting power at general meetings or any other members of our Group.

DIRECTORS AND THEIR SERVICE AGREEMENTS

The composition of the Board during the Reporting Period up to the date of this report is set out as follows.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or
debentures of the Group or any other body corporate.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Sam Ming* (Chairman)
Ms. Yao Yuan*
Ms. Chan Sau Po

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Cheung Yin
Mr. Wong Hei Chiu
Mr. Leung Vincent Gar-Gene

Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries

The Director of subsidiaries who held office during the financial year and up to the date of this report are
Mr. Lam Sam Ming and Ms. Yao Yuan. Mr. Lam is the sole director of the following subsidiaries of the Group:
Century Sight Limited, Great Wall Printing Company Limited, Mr. Classic Inc., Great China Gains Inc.,
Super Noble Limited, Tactful Hero Limited. Ms. Yao Yuan is the legal representative of Prosperous Printing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ("h & EIl (G A FR/ZAF]). Mr. Lam and Ms. Yao Yuan are the directors of Prosperous
Printing (HK) Company Limited and Printplus Limited.
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Each Director has entered into a service agreement or letter of appointment with the Company for initially a
fixed term of two years commencing from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter until terminated by
either party giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other party.

Biography details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from each INED pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers the INEDs to remain independent as at the date of this report.

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

EMOLUMENT OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee of the Board will make recommendations on the remuneration of the
Directors and senior management and to recommend members of the Board and determine, with delegated
responsibilities, the remuneration package of individual Director and senior management. The remuneration
committee regularly reviews and determines the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and
senior management by reference to, among other things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid
by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the transactions set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements in this report, the Group
has not entered into any transaction, arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the Group’s
business to which any of member of the Group was a party and in which a Director or a connected entity of that
Director had, directly or indirectly, a material interest.

Saved as disclosed, there was no contract of significance between the Company or one of its subsidiaries on the
one hand, and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries on the other, subsisting during or at the end of
the Reporting Period.

Saved as disclosed, there was also no other contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company

or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during or at the end of the same
period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Other than members of the Group, none of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) has interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

INTEREST OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the controlling
shareholder of the Company nor any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group during the Reporting Period.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Controlling Shareholders (together the “Covenantors”) entered into a deed of non-competition in
favour of the Group (the “Deed of Non-competition”) on 15 November 2017, details of which are set out in
the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders — Deed of non-competition” in the
Prospectus.

The Company received from each of the Covenantors an annual confirmation on their respective compliance
of the non-competition undertaking under the Deed of Non-competition. The INEDs have reviewed the
compliance of such undertaking and evaluated the effective implementation of the Deed of Non-competition,
and they were satisfied with the Covenantors’ compliance with their undertaking for the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has entered into a contract by which (a)
a person undertakes the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company; and (b) the contract is not a contract of service with any Director or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 58.8% of the total
revenue of the Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately 21.6% of the total
revenue.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates,

or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s five largest suppliers, three of which is our sub-contractor, accounted
for approximately 24% of the cost of sales of the Group and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 7.9% of the cost of sales.
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To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their respective close associates,
or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance report of the Company for the Reporting Period is set out of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at
the date of this report, the public float of the Company’s issued securities is sufficient with at least 25% held by
the public.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at the year end date of the Reporting Period, the Company has no reserves available for distribution to its
Shareholders.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period were audited by TANDEM.
TANDEM will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the AGM.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to the section headed “Events after the Reporting Period” in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report for details.

Mr. Lam Sam Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of Prosperous Printing Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Prosperous Printing Company Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 151,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Because of the significance
of the matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we have not been able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Material uncertainty related to going concern

As discussed in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$83,086,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021, and as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$72,595,000. Included in the bank loans and overdrafts as at 31 December 2021 are
carrying amounts of approximately HK$138,557,000 which may be immediately due for repayment following
the breach of loan covenants as detailed in Note 25(v). These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have prepared a cash flow forecast which takes into account of certain
assumptions as set out in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements. Based on the directors’ assessment,
the Group is able to continue as a going concern and it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

The appropriateness of the consolidated financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis largely
depends on whether those plans and measures involving assumptions as detailed in Note 3.2 can be successfully
implemented including (i) successfully managing its profit margins on the Group’s operations and implement cost
control; (ii) the successful negotiations with the bankers to renew or/and extend its facilities; (iii) successful sales
of certain properties; and (iv) successfully obtaining additional new sources of financing as and when needed.

The directors of the Company have not provided us with information that we consider sufficient to evaluate
whether the above-mentioned plans and measures are feasible and assumptions applied are reasonable and
supportable.

Due to the limitations on our scope of work as stated above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to determine whether the directors’ conclusion that the Group is able to continue as a going
concern and the consolidated financial statements prepared on a going concern basis is appropriate.

Should the Group fail to continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Prosperous Printing Company Limited



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by
another auditor who expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those statements on 31 March 2021.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
However, because of the matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Report on Other Matters under sections 407(2) and 407(3) of the Companies Ordinance

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the material
uncertainty related to going concern as described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report
above:

i) we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting records had been kept; and

ii)  we have not obtained all the information or explanations that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are
necessary and material for the purpose of the audit.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Cheung Man Loon
Michael.

TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
31 March 2022
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CoNSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PRroFIT OR Loss AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
Revenue 5 281,810 278,944
Cost of sales (227,591) (283,378)
Gross profit (loss) 54,219 (4,434)
Other income 7 6,895 11,585
Other gains and (losses) 8 115 (9,845)
Distribution costs (23,910) (18,435)
Administrative expenses (54,538) (60,313)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss
model on trade and other receivables, net (57,968) (10,610)
Loss from operations (75,187) (92,052)
Finance costs 9 (5,939) (7,482)
Loss before tax 10 (81,126) (99,534)
Income tax expense 11 (1,960) (1,290)
Loss for the year (83,086) (100,824)
Other comprehensive income
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign
operations 5,024 9,479
Total comprehensive expenses for the year (78,062) (91,345)
HK cents HK cents
Loss per share
Basic 15 (10.39) (12.60)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 16 196,747 219,066
Intangible assets 17 444 550
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18 17,861 11,196
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 253 1,433
Deferred tax assets 27 446 2,197
215,751 234,442
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 19 35,216 50,597
Trade and other receivables 20 126,286 163,093
Pledged bank deposits 21 2,016 9,126
Bank balances and cash 22 2,048 1,551
165,566 224,367
Assets held for sale 23 - 12,546
165,566 236,913
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 24 79,063 50,238
Bank loans and overdrafts 25 147,756 159,578
Lease liabilities 26 7,185 15,208
Income tax payable 4,157 4,635
238,161 229,659
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS (72,595) 7,254
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 143,156 241,696
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank loans 25 - 20,053
Lease liabilities 26 6,353 5,311
Deferred tax liabilities 27 6,518 7,985
12,871 33,349
NET ASSETS 130,285 208,347
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

At 31 December 2021

OF FINANCIAL PoSITION

2021 2020
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 28 100,843 100,843
Reserves 29,442 107,504
TOTAL EQUITY 130,285 208,347

These consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 151 were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 31 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Lam Sam Ming
Director

Prosperous Printing Company Limited

Chan Sau Po
Director



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuiTYy

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Statutory
Share Capital surplus Exchange Retained
capital reserve reserve reserve profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note (i)) (Note (ii))

At 1 January 2020 100,843 3,318 - (13,415) 208,946 299,692
Loss for the year - - - - (100,824) (100,824)
Other comprehensive income

for the year — — — 9,479 — 9,479

Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year - - - 9,479 (100,824) (91,345)

At 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 100,843 3,318 = (3,936) 108,122 208,347
Loss for the year - - - - (83,086) (83,086)
Other comprehensive income

for the year - - - 5,024 - 5,024

Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year - - - 5,024 (83,086) (78,062)

Transfer to statutory

surplus reserve - - 5,125 - (5,125) -
At 31 December 2021 100,843 3,318 5,125 1,088 19,911 130,285
Notes: (i) Capital reserve comprises deemed contribution from the controlling shareholder in prior years.

(i1) As stipulated by the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the subsidiary in the PRC is required to appropriate 10% of
their after-tax profit to a statutory surplus reserve fund until the balance of the fund reaches 50% of its registered capital and
thereafter any further appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus reserve fund can be utilised to offset prior year losses, or
for conversion into registered capital on the condition that the statutory surplus reserve fund shall be maintained at a minimum
of 25% of the registered capital after such utilisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLows

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$°000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax (81,126) (99,534)
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible assets 120 112
Bank interest income (220) (303)
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 2,884 (149)
Deposit on acquisition of property, plant and equipment written off 1,000 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 24,964 24,679
Early termination of lease @) -
Exchange differences (86) (104)
Finance costs 5,939 7,482
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale (954) -
Inventories written off - 10,243
Impairment losses under ECL on trade receivables, net 56,150 10,425
Impairment losses under ECL on other receivables, net 1,818 185
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,165 7,112
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 11,647 (39,852)
Decrease in inventories 20,291 20,613
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (22,223) 6,161
Increase in trade and other payables 35,254 4,502
Cash generated from (used in) operations 44,969 (8,576)
Income tax paid
— the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) (1,509) (1,451)
— Hong Kong Profits Tax 913) (5,070)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 42,547 (15,097)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of asset held for sale 13,500 -
Decrease (increase) in pledged bank deposits 7,110 (218)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,111 5,671
Interest received 220 303
Payment for investment in key management insurance policies (9,473) -
Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,057) (18,350)
Payment for deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (249) (1,433)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 10,162 (14,027)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASsH FLows

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Notes HK$°000 HK$°000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of bank loans (280,475) (247,186)
Capital element of lease rentals paid (15,662) (12,540)
Interest and other borrowing costs paid (5,024) (6,430)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 915) 991)
New bank loans raised 256,994 268,699
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (45,082) 1,552
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS 7,627 (27,572)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR (13,911) 13,486
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 10 175
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE END OF THE YEAR 22 (6,274) (13,911)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Prosperous Printing Company Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong and its shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 13 December 2017. Its holding company is First Tech
Inc, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and its ultimate controlling party is
Mr. Lam Sam Ming, who is also the Chairman and executive director of the Company. The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in the production and trading of
books and paper products.

Other than the subsidiary established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), whose functional
currency is Renminbi (“RMB”), the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is Hong
Kong Dollars (“HKS$”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS, which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (the
“Committee”) of the International Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the
costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the net
realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no

material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Prosperous Printing Company Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments relate to
changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of interest-bearing borrowings as a result
of interest rate benchmark reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related disclosure
requirements applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“HKFRS 77).

At 1 January 2021, the Group has several bank loans, the interests of which are indexed to benchmark
rates that will or may be subject to interest rate benchmark reform. The following table shows the total
amounts of these outstanding contracts. The amounts of bank loans are shown at their carrying amounts.

HKS Hong Kong
Interbank Offered

Rate (“HIBOR”)
HK$°000

Financial liabilities
Bank loans 103,399

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial statements as none of the relevant
contracts has been transitioned to the relevant replacement rates during the year and the directors of
the Company expect that HIBOR will continue to exist. The Group will apply the practical expedient in
relation to the changes in contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate benchmark reform for
interest-bearing borrowings measured at amortised cost.

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the Committee — Cost necessary to sell
inventories (HKAS 2 Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision, clarified the costs an entity should include as
“estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories. In
particular, whether such costs should be limited to those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee
concluded that the estimated costs necessary to make the sale should not be limited to those that are
incremental but should also include costs that an entity must incur to sell its inventories including those
that are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group’s accounting policy prior to the Committee’s agenda decision was to determine the net
realisable value of inventories taking into consideration incremental costs only. Upon application of the
Committee’s agenda decision, the Group changed its accounting policy to determine the net realisable
value of inventories taking into consideration both incremental costs and other cost necessary to sell
inventories. The new accounting policy has been applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had no material impact on the Group’s financial

positions and performance as both incremental costs and other cost necessary to sell inventories are
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021!

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

1

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2021)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or
non-current, which:

. specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should be based on rights that
are in existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right exists if the conditions
are met at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a
later date; and

. clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to
align the corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2021, including bank loans, and the

related terms and conditions stipulated in the agreements between the Group and the relevant lenders, the
application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the nature
of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant accounting
policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial statements to
be measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty - that is, the accounting policy may require
such items to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead be
estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the
accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based
on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained with additional
clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transactions

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax
assets in paragraphs 15 to 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer applies to transactions that,
on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in Note 3.4 to the consolidated financial statements, for leasing transactions in which the
tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the
relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant assets
and liabilities are recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can
be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated with
the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with
early application permitted. At 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities which are subject to the amendments amounted to HK$28,613,000 and HK$13,538,000
respectively. The Group is still in the process of assessing the full impact of the application of the
amendments.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether modification of terms of original
financial liability constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes
only fees paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases
The amendment to Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the example the
illustration of reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any

potential confusion.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

3.2

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Going concern assessment

The Group sustained a loss of approximately HK$83,086,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021,
and as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$72,595,000 and bank
loans and overdrafts amounting to approximately HK$147,756,000 which are due for repayment
within one year and breach of loan covenants detailed in Note 25(v) may render the bank loans
and overdraft of approximately HK$138,557,000 becoming immediately due for repayment. The
Group’s pledged bank deposits and cash at bank amounted to approximately HK$2,016,000 and
HK$2,048,000 respectively as at 31 December 2021. These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

In order to improve the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company have undertaken
and will implement various measures detailed as follows:

(1)  the directors of the Company have prepared and reviewed the Group’s cash flows projections
which included:

a)  projecting revenue based on directors’ experience and the business development of the
Group, after taking into account of the current market conditions; and

b) estimating gross margin and cash settlement pattern with reference to the historical
results.

(i) the Group will closely monitor its operations and implement cost control on operating costs
and administrative expenses with an aim to attain positive and sustainable cash flow from
operations;

(iii) the Group has been actively negotiating with its bankers to renew or/and extend its existing
banking facilities, of which available of unutilised banking facilities to the amount of
HK$19,843,000 as at 31 December 2021;

(iv) the Group will dispose of certain properties; and

(v) the Group will actively and regularly review its capital structure and source additional capital
by raising new debt financing or, issuing new shares, where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Going concern assessment (Continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends upon the successful implementation and outcome of the above measures to be
undertaken by the Group. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into account
the above measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due in the next twelve months from 31 December 2021. The directors of the
Company are therefore of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of
the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively.

3.3 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the
transaction price.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.3

34

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

O Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

O Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

O the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

O the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

O the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

The Group recognised revenue from (i) production and trading of books and paper products; and (ii)
provision of sub — contracting services in relation to books and paper products.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Revenue from sale of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is generally recognised when control of products has been transferred
to the customer. Control of the product is considered transferred to the customer, being at the
point the products are delivered to the customer’s specific location and the customer has accepted
the products. Therefore, the directors of the Company consider that the control over such good is
transferred at a point in time, instead of over time.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is
due. Payment of the transaction price is usually due within 30 days - 180 days of the date when
control of the products is transferred to the customer.

Provision of sub-contracting services

Revenue arising from provision of sub-contracting services is recognised when the customer accepts
and takes control of the goods sub-contracted to the Group.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.
The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease components,
and accounts for the lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying

assets, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of

its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and equipment”, the same line item within
which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an

option to terminate the lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone
price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to
reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease
by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments
to the relevant right-of-use asset.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Sublease
When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two

separate contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end 